การแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนในไซยาโนแบคทีเรียทนเค็ม Aphanothece halophytica

นางสาวอาภรณ์ บัวหลวง

สถาบันวิทยบริการ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรมหาบัณฑิต สาขาวิชา ชีวเคมี ภาควิชา ชีวเคมี คณะวิทยาศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2549 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

SODIUM/PROTON EXCHANGE IN HALOTOLERANT CYANOBACTERIUM

Aphanothece halophytica

MISS APORN BUALUANG

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of Master of Science Program in Biochemistry

Department of Biochemistry

Faculty of Science

Chulalongkorn University

Academic Year 2006

Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

Thesis Title

By Field of Study Thesis Advisor SODIUM/PROTON EXCHANGE IN HALOTOLERANT CYANOBACTERJUM *Aphanothece halophytica* Miss Aporn Bualuang Biochemistry Associate Professor Aran Incharoensakdi, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Faculty of Science, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Master's Degree

Kaute MaineDean of the Faculty of Science

(Professor Piamsak Menasaveta, Ph.D.)

THESIS COMMITTEE

Terry Bent Chairman

(Assistant Professor Teerapong Buaboocha, Ph.D.)

An Dalli Thesis Advisor

(Associate Professor Aran Incharoensakdi, Ph.D.)

Supaditor Chadchavan Member

(Assistant Professor Supachitra Chadchawan, Ph.D.)

W. Anchon Member

(Nuchanat Wutipraditkul, Ph.D.)

อาภรณ์ บัวหลวง : การแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนในไซยาโนแบคทีเรียทนเค็ม Aphanothece halophytica. (SODIUM/PROTON EXCHANGE IN HALOTOLERANT CYANOBACTERIUM Aphanothece halophytica) อ. ที่ปรึกษา: รศ.ดร. อรัญ อินเจริญ ศักดิ์, 72 หน้า.

ไขยาโนแบคทีเรียทนเค็ม Aphanothece halophytica สามารถเจริญเติบโตได้ภายใต้สภาวะแวดล้อม ที่มีความเข้มข้นของเกลือโซเดียมคลอไรด์ 0.5 โมลาร์ (สภาวะปกติ) และ 2.0 โมลาร์ (สภาวะเครียด) มีกลไกใน การขับโซเดียมออกจากเซลล์เป็นการรักษาระดับโซเดียมภายในเซลล์ให้เหมาะสมเพื่อไม่ให้เป็นอันตราย ต่อ กระบวนการเมแทบอลิซึม การแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนเป็นกลไกหนึ่งในการควบคุมปริมาณโซเดียม ภายใน เซลล์งานวิจัยนี้ ทำการศึกษาการแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนในไซยาโนแบคทีเรียทนเค็ม Aphanothece halophytica พบว่าเซลล์ที่เติบโตเหมาะสมเมื่อความขุ่นของเซลล์ที่ค่าการดูดกลืนแสง 730 นาโนเมตร อยู่ ในช่วง 0.5-0.9 หรือเซลล์ในช่วงระยะแบ่งเซลล์ พบการแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนสงที่สด จึงนำเซลล์ในช่วงนี้ มาทำการติดตามแอกทีวิดีต่อไป โดยทำการศึกษาผลกระทบของตัวยับยั้งพลังงาน และไอโอโนฟอร์ชนิดต่างๆ ต่อการแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอน พบว่า valinomycin, CCCP, vanadate และ DCCD ซึ่งตัวยับยั้งดังกล่าว ทำลายเกรเดียนท์ของโปรตอนและเกี่ยวข้องกับความต่างศักย์ของไอออน มีผลในการยับยั้งการแลกเปลี่ยน อีก ทั้ง monensin เกี่ยวข้องกับการแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม ให้ผลยับยั้งเช่นกัน amiloride ซึ่งเป็นตัวยับยั้งที่จำเพาะกับ โซเดียม/โปรตอนแอนติพอร์เตอร์ต่อแบคทีเรีย ตอบสนองต่อแอคทิวิตีของแอนติพอร์ตเตอร์เช่นกัน นอกจากนี้ การแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนยังถูกยับยั้งด้วย sodium azide อีกด้วย ซึ่งจากผลการลองแสดงว่า การ เกี่ยวข้องกับเกรเดียนท์ของโปรตอนและเกี่ยวข้องกับความต่างศักย์ของไอออน แลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอน ต่อมาศึกษาบทบาทของความเป็นกรด-ด่างต่อการแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนพบว่า สามารถทำงานได้ใน ช่วงกว้าง pH 5.0-10.0 นอกจากนี้ ไอออนอื่น อาทิ โปแทสเซียม ลิเทียม แคลเซียม และแมกนีเซียมมีการ แลกเปลี่ยนกับโปรตอนได้ ต่อมาศึกษาผลทางจลนพลศาสตร์ต่อการแลกเปลี่ยนโซเดียม/โปรตอนพบว่า เซลล์มี ค่าคงที่ของ Michaelis-menten ต่อ โซเดียม แคลเซียม และลิเทียม ไอออน เท่ากับ 23.7, 4.4 และ 36.0 มิลลิโม ลาร์ ตามลำดับ และมีค่าอัตราเร็วสูงสุดเท่ากับ 15.0, 14.5 และ 16.0% fluorescence ตามลำดับ

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

ภาควิชา	.ชีวเคมี	ลายมือชื่อนิสิต	อาศัลณ์	4120703
สาขาวิชา	ชีวเคมี	.ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่เ	ไรึกษา	æ
ปีการศึกษา	2549			

4672505123 : MAJOR BIOCHEMISTRY KEY WORD: SODIUM / PROTON / *Aphanothece halophytica* APORN BUALUANG: SODIUM/PROTON EXCHANGE

APORN BUALUANG: SODIUM/PROTON EXCHANGE IN HALOTOLERANT CYANOBACTERIUM *Aphanothece halophytica*. THESIS ADVISOR: ASSOC.PROF. ARAN INCHAROENSAKDI, Ph. D., 72 pp.

The halotolerant cyanobacterium Aphanothece halophytica grown under non-stress (0.5 M NaCl) and stress condition (2.0 M NaCl) provided a maximal Na⁺/H⁺ exchange when the optical density of culture reached 0.5-0.9 (7th day). The Na⁺/H⁺ exchange of Aphanothece was shown to be dissipated by protonophores, namely valinomycin and CCCP. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was strongly inhibited by monensin. Orthovanadate and DCCD also inhibited Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. Amiloride, a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporterer inhibitor, showed inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. The Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was sensitive to sodium azide, an ATP formation inhibitor. These results strongly favour the concept that respiratory energy is used for proton efflux and that the resulting proton motive force may be involved in Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. A role for antiport activity in pH regulation can also explain the activity of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange over a broad pH range extending to the alkaline condition (pH 5.0-10.0). The cation/H⁺ exchange activity was observed when either mono-valent cations (Na⁺, K⁺, Li⁺) or di-valent cations (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺) served as a cation. The K_m values for Na⁺, Ca²⁺, and Li⁺ were 23.7, 4.4 and 36.0 mM, respectively, whereas the V_{max} values were 15.0, 14.5 and 16.0 % fluorescence respectively.

จุฬาลงกรณมหาวทยาลย

Department....Biochemistry.....Student's signature...Aporn Bualvang. Field of study.....Biochemistry.... Advisor's signature...Du Confu Academic year.....2006.....

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisor, Associate Professor Dr. Aran Incharoensakdi for excellent instruction, guidance, encourage and support throughout this thesis. Without kindness, this work could not be accomplished.

My gratitude is also extent to Assistant Professor Dr. Teerapong Buabucha ,Assistant Professor Dr. Supachitra Cahdchawan and Dr. Nuchanat Wutipraditkul for serving as thesis committee, for their available comments and also for useful suggestions.

Sincere thanks also extend to all staff members and friends for Biochemistry Department for their assistance and friendship for example P'Ole ,P'Ann ,Puen, Bonk, Nan, Ople, Him and K. Prajuab, for their kindness, willpower and suggestions

Finally, the greatest indebtedness is expressed to my family for their unlimited love, understanding and encouragement.

CONTENTS

PAGE

THAI ABSTRACT iv
ENGLISH ABSTRACTv
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS vi
CONTENTS vii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF ABBREVIATION
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION
Introduction1
The compatible solute
Na ⁺ /H ⁺ antiporters
Objectives
CHAPTER II MATERIALS AND METHOD
2.1 Instruments
2.2 Chemicals
2.3 Bacterial strains24
2.4 Culture conditions
2.5 Measurements of Na^+/H^+ exchange by intact cell
2.5.1 Effects of NaCl on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange25
2.5.2 Growth-independent Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange25
2.5.3 Effects of pH on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange
2.5.4 Effects of cations on H ⁺ exchange
2.5.5 Effects of metabolic inhibitors on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange

2.6 Preparation of plasma membrane in A. halophytica cells	27
2.6.1 Sucrose gradient separation	27
2.6.2 Aqueous polymer two-phase partitioning	28
2.6.3 Absorption spectra	28
2.6.4 Electron micrographs of plasma membrane vesicles	29
2.6.5 Measurements of Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange	
by plasma membrane vesicles	29
CHAPTER III RESULTS	31
3.1 Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange by intact cell	31
3.1.1 Effects of NaCl on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange	31
3.1.2 Growth-independent Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange	32
3.1.3 Effects of external pH on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange	38
3.1.4 Effects of cations on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange	38
3.1.5 Inhibition of Na^+/H^+ exchange by metabolic inhibitors	43
3.2 Preparation of plasma membrane in A. halophytica cells	45
3.2.1 Sucrose gradient separation	45
3.2.2 Aqueous polymer two-phase partitioning	45
3.2.3 Electron micrograph of isolated plasma membranes	45
3.2.4 Absorption spectra	46
3.3 N ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange by plasma membrane vesicle	46
CHAPTER IV DISCUSSION	51
CHAPTER V CONCLUSION	55
REFERENCES	56
APPENDICES	67
BIOGRAPHY	72

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1	Molecular basis of the gene knock-out of five putative	
	Na ⁺ /H ⁺ antiporters in <i>Synechocystis</i> sp. PCC 68031	.8
Table 1.2	Physiological roles of the Arabidopsis genes in which	
	contribute for salt tolerance	20
Table 3.1	Ratio between carotenoid absorption (485 nm) and chlorophyll	
	absorption (680 nm) of total membrane and plasma membrane	50



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 Organic compatible solutes were found in living organisms
Figure 1.2 glycine betaine pathways5
Figure 1.3 Schematic diagram illustrating typical activity of
Na^+/H^+ exchanger isoforms in mammalian cells, yeast and <i>E. coli</i>
Figure 1.4 Models of the secondary structure of Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchangers
Figure 3.1 Microscopic picture of Aphanothece halophytica grown in
Turk Island Salt Solution plus BG ₁₁ at 14 days (x 2250)
Figure 3.2 The diagram of Na^+/H exchange measured by the
acridine orange fluorescence quenching method as described
in Materials and Methods
Figure 3.3 Effects of NaCl on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange
Figure 3.4 Growth of A. halophytica in Turk Island Salt Solution plus modified
BG11 medium
Figure 3.5 Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange of cell grown in 0.5 M NaCl (\blacktriangle)
and cells grown in 2.0 M NaCl () at various growth stage
Figure 3.6 Effect of pH on Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange of cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl
Figure 3.7 Effects of mono cation, divalent cation on cation/H ⁺ exchange
of cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl40
Figure 3.8 Effect of combination of cation on cation/ H^+ exchange of
cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl41
Figure 3.9 Effect of LiCl (A) and CaCl ₂ (B) on Na^+/H^+ exchange of
cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl42
Figure 3.10 Inhibition of Na ⁺ /H ⁺ exchange by metabolic inhibitors of

cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl44
Figure 3.11 Separation of plasma membrane by sucrose gradient centrifugation47
Figure 3.12 Partition of total cyanobacteria membrane in two-phase system
(5.6 % dextran/5.6 % PEG)48
Figure 3.13 Electron micrograph of the plasma membrane preparation



LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

А	Absorbance
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CaCl ₂	Calcium chloride
СССР	Carbonyl cyanidetrichloromethoxyphenylhydrazone
Chl	Chlorophyll
cm	Centimeter
CO ₂	Carbondioxide
°C	Degree celsius
DCCD	N, N-dicyclohexylcarbodiimide
DTT	Dithiothreitol
ΔpH	pH gradient or proton gradient
Δψ	Membrane potential
ΔNa	Sodium gradient
EDTA	Ethylenediamine tetraacetic acid
g	Gram
Hepes	N-2-hydroxyethylpiperazine-N-ethanesulfonic
HCl	Hydrochloric acid
KCN	Potassium cyanide
KCl	Potassium chloride
1	Litre
LiCl	Lithium cholride
lux	Photometric (light density)

min	Minute
ul	Microliter
MES	2-(N-morpholine)-ethane sulphonic acid
ml	Milliliter
mg	Milligram
Mg_2SO_4	Magnesium sulfate
mM	Millimolar
MW	Molecular weight marker
μΜ	Micromolar
М	Molar
NaN ₃	Sodium azide
NaCl	Sodium chloride
nm	Nanometer
OD	Optical density
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PMF	Proton motive force
rpm	Revolution per minute

CHAPTER I

Introduction

Twenty percentages of the world's cultivated land and nearly half of all irrigated lands are affected by high salinity (Flower and Yeo, 1995). High salinity causes ion imbalance and hyperosmotic stress in plants. Organisms that thrive in hypersaline environments possess specific mechanisms for the adjustment of their internal osmotic status. One such mechanism is the ability to accumulate low-molecular-weight organic-compatible solutes such as sugars, some amino acids, and quaternary ammonium compounds (Rhodes and Hanson, 1993; Hanson *et al.*, 1994; Bettina and Bremer, 1998).

Salinity is one of many limiting factors in crop productivity and much effort has been made to understand salt tolerance. Although the ability to adapt to fluctuations in the external salinity is fundamental to survival of organisms, the mechanisms responsible for osmotic adaptation have been largely unknown. Upon the changing salinity of environment, all microorganisms need to balance their cytoplasm with the osmotic pressure exerted by the external medium. To adjust the internal osmotic status that enables organisms to survive in hypersaline environment, several strategies have been reported, for example regulation of ions, the accumulation of organic molecules, quenching of active oxygen, chaperone for protein folding (stress protein), molecular evolution of the salt tolerance enzyme, and the modification of membrane lipid composition.

The mechanisms responsible for osmotic adaptation have been elucidated only relatively recently. There are remarkable similarities between bacteria and plants because organisms from both kingdoms accumulate the same set of cytoplasm solutes upon exposure to conditions of hyperosmolarity. Thus, it is likely that there will be close parallels in the mechanisms that theses organisms employ to regulate response to osmotic stress (Csonka and Hanson, 1991).

Living cells adapt to water stress by two basic schemes. The first strategy is accumulation of organic solutes to control their internal water activity, maintain the appropriate cell volume and turgor pressure, and protect intracellular macromolecules (Le Rudulier *et al.*, 1984; Galinski and Truper, 1994). The compatible solutes, also called osmolytes, include sugars, amino acids and their derivatives, polyols and their derivatives, betaine, and ectoines (Wood *et al.*, 2001)

The compatible solute

The compatible solutes in general, are low molecular weight organic compounds that accumulate to high intracellular levels under osmotic stress and are compatible with the metabolism of the cell. For example, glycine betaine is compatible solute in halotolerant bacteria, archaea, and cyanobacteria. It is not synthesized by most microorganisms but is taken up from the medium and used for osmoadaptation (Wood, 1999) The compatible solutes are shown in Fig. 1.1.



Figure 1.1 Organic compatible solutes found in living organisms.

A very important quaternary ammonium compound commonly used in cellular osmoregulation is glycine betaine (*N*, *N*, *N*-trimethylglycine), a derivative of amino acid glycine, is evidence in a number of diverse microbial systems, including enteric bacteria (Andresen *et al.*, 1988), soil bacteria (Smith *et al.*, 1988), *a* halophilic bacteria (Galinski *et al.*, 1994), cyanobacteria (Mackey, 1984) and metanogenic archaea bacteria (Robertson *et al.*, 1990). In higher plant, some plants in families Chenopodaceae, Amaranthaceae and Gramineae, for example, accumulate glycine betaine in response to salt stress or drought (Hanson *et al.*, 1985; Brouquisse *et al.*, 1989; Ishitani *et al.*, 1993) reported that glycine betaine synthesis occurs in chloroplasts of spinach leaves. Subsequently (Robinson, 1986) reported the accumulation of glycine betaine up to 0.3 M in spinach chloroplast provide osmotic adjustment during salt stress.

Glycine-betaine (betaine) is a trimethylamine produced by two different general pathways for synthesizing betaine. The oxidative pathway can utilize one enzyme to change choline to betaine (choline oxidase in Gram-positive soil bacteria; *Actinopolyspora halophila*) or require two soluble enzymes to oxidize choline to betaine with betaine-aldehyde as intermediate (choline monooxygenase and betaine-aldehyde dehydrogenase in higher plants and choline dehydrogenase and betaine-aldehyde dehydrogenase in marine invertebrates and bacteria including *E. coli*). Several microorganisms can also generate betaine by successively methylating glycine. GSMT (glycine sarcosine methyltransferase) and SDMT (sarcosine dimethylglycine methyltransferase) in *Halorhodospira halochloris* and *Aphanothece halophytica* transfer the methyl group of S-adenosylmethionine to two different types of amines. Betaine synthesis from glycine in a halotolerant photosynthetic organism *A. halophila* was also carried out by GSMT and DGMT activities. Only one methanogen, *Methanohalophilus portucalensis*, has been shown to synthesize betaine de novo. The last result suggests that betaine accumulation is likely regulated by the internal K⁺ concentration in these cells. In most cells where it is accumulated as an osmolyte, the betaine is actively transported from complex medium. The pathway for glycine betaine synthesis is shown in Fig. 1.2.



Figure 1.2 glycine betaine pathways (1 = choline dehydrogenase (bacteria) or cholinemonooxygenase (plants), 2 = glycine-betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase,3 = choline oxidase, 4 = glycine-sarcosine methyl transferase, 5, 6 = dimethyl glycine methyl transferase)

The second strategy for adaptation to water stress is accumulation of very high intracellular concentration of ions such as Na^+ and K^+ (Ventosa *et al.*, 1998). Since biological membranes are permeable to water, cells cannot maintain the water activity of their cytoplasm higher than that of the surrounding brine, because this would lead to a rapid loss of water to the environment. Therefore, any microorganism living at high salt concentrations may be expected to keep its cytoplasm at least isoosmotic with the extracellular environment. Build up of a turgor pressure requires a hyperosmotic cytoplasm (Oren, 1999)

Osmotic balance in microbes can be maintained by accumulation of high cytoplasmic concentrations of KCl. As a consequence, the intracellular enzymes and macromolecules must be adapted to high ionic strength. In fact, intracellular enzymes of the microbes using the KCl-strategy are not only fully active at high KCl concentrations, but also require monovalent cations (preferably K^+) for stability. It has been shown that bacteria using this strategy have intracellular proteins with higher proportion of acidic amino acids and lower proportion of nonpolar residues than proteins usually (Lanyi, 1974). The KCl-strategy is typical for halophilic, anaerobic, heterotrophic eubacteria (*Haloanaerobiales*) (Oren, 1986; Rengpipat *et al.*, 1988; Oren, 1997) and extremely halophilic archaebacteria (*Halobacteriales*) (Lanyi, 1974) with the exception of extremely halophilic methanogens. The anaerobic heterotrophic halophiles also accumulate significant amounts of NaCl. Extremely large amounts of KCl can be accumulated by halophilic archaebacteria. Intracellular concentrations of several metal K+ have been reported for some *Halobacterium* strains (Lanyi, 1974)

When organisms are subjected to a sudden increase in hyperosmotic condition, they usually respond with an adaptation reaction. Upon the exposure to high salinity, extrusion of sodium ion is needed to balance and maintain sodium level. Hence all cells have sodium extrusion via the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters which catalyze the exchange of Na⁺ for H⁺ across membranes. The primary energy source for this system in most organisms is the proton electrochemical gradient (μ_{H}^{+}) across the cytoplasmic membrane. This proton electrochemical gradient is derived either from respiratory electron transport or at the expense of ATP formed during substrate-level phosphorylation by activity of the membrane ATPase. The Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters are membrane proteins that are essential for maintenance of the balance between Na⁺ and K⁺ in plant, fungal bacterial cells, in particular when the organism lacks primary Na⁺ pumps or when the Na⁺ pumps are not operative.

Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters

The Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter (exchanger) is a ubiquitous membrane protein localized in cytoplasmic and organellar membranes and is present in virtually all cell types, including bacteria and the cells of plants and mammals. This integral membrane protein transports Na⁺ and H⁺ in opposite directions across cell membranes. The direction of exchange is dependent solely upon the ions' electrochemical gradient, requiring no additional metabolic energy. In higher eukaryotic cells, Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters function to remove excess protons from the cytosol by taking up Na⁺ from the external environment, a process that is driven by the sodium gradient generated by Na⁺/K⁺ATPase (Figure 1.3A). In bacteria and yeast, Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters is in the opposite direction, and intracellular Na⁺ is removed utilizing the H⁺ gradient generated by the plasma-membrane H⁺-ATPase (Figure 1.3B) . In mammalian and fungal cells, Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters is electroneutral, with a stoichiometry of 1:1. Conversely, bacterial Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters is electrogenic. In *Escherichia coli*, NhaA exchanges 2 H⁺ per 1 Na⁺ and NhaB exchanges 3 H⁺ per 2 Na⁺. In addition, all Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters are able to transport Li⁺ in exchange for H⁺ (Wiebe *et al.*, 2001)



Figure 1.3 Schematic diagram illustrating typical activity of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoforms in mammalian cells, yeast and *E. coli* (A) Typical activity of the mammalian Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger, NHE1 isoform. The large `Na⁺' indicates the higher sodium concentration outside the cell driving activity of the protein. (B) Activity of Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers involved in salt tolerance, the yeast Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger sod2 of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* and NhaA of *E. coli*. The large `H⁺' indicates the higher H⁺ concentration driving the activity of these forms of the protein

The importance of Na^+/H^+ antiporters has been shown to be involved in diverse physiological processes, e.g., extrusion of sodium which is toxic if it accumulates too high concentration in cells (Dover and Padan, 2001), play a role for internal pH regulation and cell volume, involve in morphogenesis, extruding the H⁺ generated during metabolism, and also crucial for salt tolerance in particular when the organism lacks primary Na⁺ pumps or when the Na⁺ pumps are not operative such as in plants or cyanobacteria (Karpel *et al.*, 1988; Blumwald *et al.*, 2000; Soong *et al.*, 2000; Inaba *et al.*, 2001)

The genomic sequence projects of several species from bacteria to higher plants and humans have been emerging. They reveal the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters cluster in several families, at least eight families of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters have been reported, i.e. 1) NhaA, 2) NhaB, 3) NhaC 4) ChaA (CAX), 5) NhaP (NHE, NHX), 6) NapA, 7) NhaD, and 8) Sod2. Among them, the physiological and molecular genetic studies of the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters system in *E.coli* have been well studied and contribute extensively to the understanding of the physiology of Na^+/H^+ antiporters. Three antiporters in E. coli, NhaA, NhaB and ChaA, are known and their functional characteristics have been well described (Padan and Schuldiner 1996. Bacterail Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters: molecular biology, biochemistry, and physiology. In Handbook of Biological Physics (Konings et al., 1986; Rosen, 1986). In human, the existence of a total of nine NHE paralogs (NHE1-9) in the entire genome sequence, which differ in subcellular location, has been reported (Brett et al., 2005). The Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform1 (NHE1) is first discovered and it is universally present in the plasma membrane of mammalian cells. It plays a key role in the regulation of internal pH, but not for Na⁺ extrusion. All isoforms of NHE have a similar structure. Generally it consists of an N-terminal integral membrane domain, which catalyzes the Na⁺/H⁺ exchange, and a long C- terminal cytoplasmic domain, which functions as a regulatory membrane (Orlowski and Grinstein, 1997). In plant, *Arabidopsis thaliana*, the exploration of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters has been reported from the recent cloning and screening mutants in which defective to salt tolerance, i. e., the AtNHX1 gene encodes a tonoplast Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter has been cloned and identified by the similarity to the yeast vacuolar antiporter NHX1 (Gaxiola *et al.*, 1999). The SOS1 gene encoding a plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters has been identified by screening of the mutants defective in salt tolerance. It is the first isolation of the Na⁺ efflux transport across plasma membrane in Arabidopsis. This putative gene plays a major role for Na⁺ extrusion across plasma membrane and controls long distance Na⁺ transport from root to shoot (Shi *et al.*, 2000; Shi *et al.*, 2003). The progress on the recent cloning of these Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters in Arabidopsis provides the basis for the understanding on physiology and molecular biology of salt tolerance.

The completion of genomic sequencing of *Arabidopsis thaliana* in the past few years provides an information for assigning members to gene families Its genome reveals many genes encoding membrane transport proteins homolog of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters, i.e, the families CPA1 (The monovalent Cation:Proton antiporter-1), CPA2 (The monovalent Cation:Proton antiporter-2) and NhaD (Maser *et al.*, 2001). The CPA1 family, arose from ancestral NhaP genes in prokaryotes, consists of a member of 8 genes (AtNHX1-8), such as the AtNHX1 and AtNHX7 (SOS1). These two genes are crucial and contribute for salt tolerance in Arabidopsis (Apse *et al.*, 1999; Zhang and Blumwald, 2001; Zhang *et al.*, 2001) The CPA2 family shares origin with prokaryotic Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, consists of 28 genes (AtCHX1-28) in Arabidopsis genome. However, only limited information on the significance of these genes is available. The probable functions of the AtCHX genes have been reported very recently by the expression pattern in transgenic plants and suppressing gene functions (Song *et al.*, 2004; Sze *et al.*, 2004). It reveals that several AtCHX genes specifically expressed in the male gametophyte and sporophytic tissues and developmentally regulated during gametophyte (Sze *et al.*, 2004) The AtCHX17, which expressed in the epidermal and cortical cells of mature root zone, is believed to be involve in K⁺ transport since the knock-out mutant plants accumulate less K⁺ in the roots when stress with salt or K⁺ starvation (Cellier *et al.*, 2004). The AtCHX23, which shows a homology with SOS1, was functionally analyzed. This putative gene encodes a Na⁺(K⁺)/H⁺ antiporter on the chloroplast envelope and functions in pH homeostasis and chloroplast development (Song *et al.*, 2004). These experimental results suggest the multiplicity of homolog putative Na⁺, K⁺/H⁺ antiporters in Arabidopsis which have various transport modes with different targets. The multiplicity of AtCHX genes is conserved in higher plants but not found in animals (Cellier *et al.*, 2004; Sze *et al.*, 2004).

Based on their primary structure, a similar membrane topology can be predicted for all isoforms, with 10–12 membrane-spanning (M) regions at the N terminus and a large cytoplasmic region at the C terminus (Fig. 1.4) (Wiebe *et al.*, 2001)



Figure 1.4 Models of the secondary structure of Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers (A) Model of NhaA based on the findings by Rothman *et al.* (B) Model of sod2 based on predictions using the program TopPred II (C) Model of mammalian, human NHE1 isoform of the Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger based on the findings by (Wakabayashi *et al*, 2000).

To understand salt-stress tolerance in relation to oxygenic photosynthesis, a cyanobacteria is one of a useful model since they conduct plant-like oxygenic photosynthesis. Phylogenetic analysis using multiple criteria strongly suggested the cyanobacteria are an earlier evolution species and can serve as an ancestor of higher plant. In the recent year, the entire genome sequences of several cyanobacteria, namely *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803, *Anabaena* sp. PCC7120, *Thermosynechococcus* sp. BP-1, are available and will be invaluable for assigning members to gene families. Among them, *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803, which its genome size 3.6 MB, represents an ideal model for study stress responses. It is a simple autotroph-photosynthesis, ROS scavenging, respiration and chloroplast functions. The organism can be transformed with very high efficiency relying on homologous recombination.

In cyanobacteria, the existence of a concentration gradient of Na⁺ directed inward, which is dependent on the photosynthetic or respiratory metabolism has been demonstrated, indicates the existence of an active transport system extruding Na⁺ from cyanobacterial cells. This active transport system is well known by the function of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters. The activities of the circulation of H⁺ and Na⁺ by the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter appeared to be involved in the intracellular Na⁺ homeostasis of a unicellular *Synechococccus* sp. PCC6311. The Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter activities have been shown in cyanobacterial strains grown at different sodium concentration. Interestingly, a variety of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter seems to cooperate in cyanobacteria, the whole genome sequencing of *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 appears to have five putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters, slr1727 (NhaS1); sll0273 (NhaS2); sll0683 (NhaS3); slr1595 (NhaS4) and slr0415 (NhaS5). These putative genes show very strong homologies to those found in higher plants. Phylogenetic relationship of these antiporters suggested the NhaS1 and NhaS2 closely resemble with the eukaryotic type while the NhaS3, NhaS4 and NhaS5 closely resemble with the prokaryotic ones (Blumwald *et al.*, 1984; Padan *et al.*, 1988; Nitschmann and Packer, 1992; Kaneko *et al.*, 1996)

To understand the physiological functions of the Na^+/H^+ antiporters in cyanobacteria, gene disruption leads to new insight into the physiological roles. In addition to gene disruption, the functional expression of these Na^+/H^+ antiporters in the mutant lacking antiporter genes also provide a powerful tool to identify and study Na^+/H^+ antiporters.

To date, functional characterization of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters in cyanabacteria has been analyzed from only two species, the unicellular cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 and the halotolerant cyanobacterium *A. halophytica*. The putative genes encoding the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from *Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 have been functionally characterized and expressed in the salt-sensitive *E.coli* mutant in which three putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters are disrupted. Among them, only the NhaS1 (eukaryotic type), and NhaS3 (prokaryotic type) complemented the salt-sensitive mutant *E.coli* and could exhibit the exchange activity of Na⁺(Li⁺) for H⁺ (Ohyama *et al.*, 1994; Hamada *et al.*, 2001; Inaba *et al.*, 2001; Waditee *et al.*, 2001).

NhaS1 (SynNhaP1) could exchange activity of Na⁺(Li⁺) for H⁺ over a wide range of pH from 5 to 9 and their activities were insensitive to amiloride. Kinetic analysis revealed that NhaS1 (SynNhaP1) encodes a low affinity Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. The homologous gene of NhaS1(SynNhaP1), ApNhaP1, was isolated from a halotolerant cyanobacterium, *A. halophytica*. The gene product of ApNhaP1 exhibited the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter activity over a wide pH range between 5 and 9 but had virtually no activity for Li⁺/H⁺ antiporter activity. Interestingly, ApNhaP1 could exhibit the exchange activity of Ca²⁺ for H⁺ at alkaline pH.

Topological models of NhaS1(SynNhaP1) and ApNhaP1 predicted the presence of 11 segments of trans-membrane with a long hydrophilic cytoplasmic tail in the Cterminal part (123 amino acid residues in case of SynNhaP1 and 124 amino acid residues in case of ApNhaP1). Functional studies of the chimera proteins by exchanging the C-terminus between NhaS1(SynNhaP1) and ApNhaP1 and vice versa could serve the plausible role and providing the importance of the C-terminal tail for ion specificity. The putative NhaS1(SynNhaP1) exhibited the exchange of Na⁺(Li⁺) for H⁺ whereas ApNhaP1 exhibited the exchange of Na⁺, Ca²⁺ for H⁺. Although both of them contained a similar length of a C-terminal tail but their charges were different. ApNhaP1 had more positive charge [22(+), 14(-)] while SynNhaP1 had more negative charge [15(+), 24(-)]. The chimera ASNhaP, in which a long C-terminus of ApNhaP1 replaced with SynNhaP1, could exhibit the exchange of Li⁺ for H⁺ which never been observed in the wild type ApNhaP1. The chimera between ApNhaP1 and NhaS1 (SynNhaP1) demonstrated the importance of the charge on C-terminal tail and affected to their ion specificity. The truncated versions of NhaS1 (SynNhaP1) by deletion of C-terminus is not only diminished the exchange of antiporter activity but also increased the affinity for Na⁺ and Li⁺ ion (unpublished data). From these results suggested that the C-terminal tail of NhaP played a role for ion specificity and affecting to the Km of the exchange activity (Ohyama et al., 1994; Hamada et al., 2001; Inaba et al., 2001; Waditee et al., 2001).

A long tail region residing in the cytoplasmic part also apparent in the SOS1 (a plasma membrane type Na^+/H^+ antiporter in Arabidopsis), AtNHX1 (a tonoplast Na^+/H^+ antiporter), NHE isoform in mammalian, and Nha1p in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. The homology of these long tails region is very low. In NHE, and a long hydrophilic cytoplasmic region are structural diverse and accumulating evidence

suggested this region mediates interactions with other proteins, therefore functions as a regulatory part. It had the evidence that the Nha1p C-terminus involves in the cell response to sudden changes in environmental osmolarity, and very recently it has been shown that a conserved domain in the tail region of Nha1p play an important roles in localization and salinity resistant cell-growth. In the plant plasma membrane type Na^{+}/H^{+} antiporter SOS1, the long C-terminal portion has been shown to reside in the cytoplasmic space and necessary for salt tolerance. The single amino acid substitution mutants in the hydrophilic tail of SOS1, i.e. sos1-8 (G777E) and sos1-9 (G784D), were inactive for SOS1 function. In a vacuolar type Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter, AtNHX1, deletion of the hydrophilic C-terminal tail caused a dramatic increase of Na⁺/H⁺ The C-terminal of AtNHX1 appears to be involved in the antiport activity. determination of the ion selectivity of the transporter. Thus, the functions of Cterminal tail in eukayotic Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters seem to have various mode (Denker et al., 2000; Lehoux et al., 2001; Pang et al., 2001; Kinclova et al., 2002; Mitsui et al., 2004).

Another type of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803, which is classified as the prokaryotic type, consists of NhaS3, NhaS4 and NhaS5. It should be noted that only the NhaS3 could exhibit the exchange activity of Na⁺/Li⁺ for H⁺ when it was expressed in the salt-sensitive mutant *E.coli*. NhaS3 shares homology with NapA from *Enterococcus hirae*, GerN from *Bacillus cereus*, and CPA2 of higher plants. Topological model of NhaS3 predicted 11 segments of transmembrane and a long C-terminal tail is absent. NhaS3 could exchange activity of Na⁺, Li⁺ for H⁺ in a pH dependent fashion. The exchange activities of Na⁺ or Li⁺ for H⁺ are restricted at alkaline pH. The homologous gene of NhaS3 was isolated from a halotolerant cyanobacterium, *A. halophytica*. It was found that *A. halophytica* contains at least two

homologous genes of NhaS3. Interestingly, one of gene product has the exchange activities of Na⁺ for H⁺/K⁺. It should be note that the extreme halophile and thermophile harbour the Nap type antiporter in their genome. Comparisons with the apparent orthologues in *Noctoc punctiforme*, *Anabaena* sp. PCC 7120 and Marine cyanobacteria show that NhaS3 is the most highly conserve of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter found among cyanobacteria (Strausak *et al.*, 1993; Southworth *et al.*, 2001)

The presence of the multiple Na^+/H^+ antiporters in cyanobacteria suggested they might play overlapping functions, or might have various transport modes. From the gene knockout analysis of the five putative Na^+/H^+ antiporters in *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803 indicated the role of these Na^+/H^+ antiporters for the growth under highsalinity condition as well as high alkaline pH (Table1.1). Among five putative genes, only NhaS3 seems to be crucial for NaCl tolerance. The attempt to knockout of NhaS3 from different group, this gene failed to make a complete segregate. Although the partial segregate of NhaS3 was constructed, it revealed that the mutant, in which NhaS3 was disrupted, became less tolerance for salt than that could observe in the wild type. Therefore, this antiporter might be the most crucial and necessary for salt tolerance in cyanobacteria (Elanskaya *et al.*, 2002; Wang *et al.*, 2002).

Table 1.1 Molecular basis of the gene knock-out of five putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters

in Synechocystis sp. PCC 6803

Putative	Phenotype/affect	References
Na ⁺ /H ⁺ antiporter		
-slr1727 (NhaS1)	-No NaCl sensitivity	-Wang et al., 1999
-sll0273 (NhaS2)	-low salt sensitivity, shift the	-Wang et al., 1999;
	pH preference to acidic	Mikkat <i>et al.</i> , 2000
	region	
-sll0683 (NhaS3)	-High salt sensitivity (using	-Inaba et al., 2001;
	partial segregation of mutant)	Wang <i>et al.</i> , 1999
-slr1595 (NhaS4)	-low salt sensitivity (similar	-Inaba <i>et al.</i> , 2001;
	to NhaS2)	Wang et al., 1999
-slr0415 (NhaS5)	-No NaCl sensitivity	-Inaba et al., 2001
-NhaS1/NhaS4	-No NaCl sensitivity	- Elanskaya , <i>et al</i> ., 2002
-NhaS1/NhaS5	-No NaCl sensitivity	- Elanskaya , <i>et al.</i> , 2002
-NhaS1/NhaS4/NhaS5	-No NaCl sensitivity	- Elanskaya , <i>et al</i> ., 2002

The other complete segregation of four putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters revealed no salt-sensitive phenotype, but somehow reflects physiological roles of these putative genes. For the disruption of NhaS1 in *Synechocystis*, the mutant NhaS1 cells had no salt-sensitive phenotype, suggesting this putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter does not crucial for salt tolerance in *Synechocystis*. However, the contribution for salt tolerance by the homolog NhaS1 had been studied by overexpression of ApNhaP1 from a halotolerant cyanobacterium, *A. halophytica*. The overexpressing of ApNhaP1 in a fresh water cyanobacterium, *Synechococcus* sp. PCC 7942, conferred salt tolerance, and capable of growth in seawater (Waditee *et al.*, 2001). The comparable situation supporting the crucial role of NhaS1 was demonstrated in Arabidopsis. This has been extensively studied for the role of NhaS1 homologue, SOS1 in Arabidopsis for salt tolerance. The overexpression of this plasma membrane Na^+/H^+ antiporter gene, SOS1, in *Arabidopsis thaliana* enhanced salt tolerance.

The disruption of NhaS2 caused the mutant cells unable to grow at low sodium concentration and exhibited an increased sensitivity towards potassium ion, even at low concentrations. From this result, it has been proposed that the NhaS2 is required for Na⁺ influx (Mikkat *et al.*, 2000). In addition, the knockout of NhaS2 dramatically shifts the pH preference of *Synechocystis* to the acidic region, suggesting this antiporter implicated in determining the pH optimum in the *Synechocystis*. The mutant cells of NhaS4 were observed quite similar phenotype as the disruption of NhaS2, but it was sensitive to acidic pH (low pH). The expressing of NhaS4 in an *E.coli* mutant is tolerant to K⁺depleted medium, suggesting NhaS4 facilitates K⁺ uptake.

From the gene knockout analysis of the putative genes of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter could provide the plausible physiological functions. But the presence of multiple Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters with potentially overlapping function, which is not completely characterized, needs to be investigated in many points. The progress in genome sequence of higher plants suggested the complexity of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters in their genomes. For example, in Arabidopsis genome presents the number of genes involves in Na⁺ transport and some of them were identified to play a crucial role during salt stress. **Table 1.2** shows physiological roles of Arabidopsis genes, AtNHX1, AtNHX7(SOS1), AtCHX17, AtCHX23, and AtHKT, in which contribute for salt

tolerance. Numerous investigations have led to the conclusion that these genes play important role to expel Na⁺ across plasma membrane, sequestrate Na⁺ into a tonoplast and or function to re-circulate or remove large amount of Na⁺ from shoot. These results provide the number and nature of some genes that are implicated in stress tolerance. However, due to the complexity of salinity stresses responses, the function of the novel antiporters need to be investigated further.

Table 1.2 Physiological roles of the Arabidopsis genes in which contribute for salt

Putative	Functions	References
Na ⁺ /H ⁺ antiporter		
-AtNHX1	-Compartmentation of Na ⁺ into a tonoplast	-Gaxiola <i>et al.</i> , 1999
-AtNHX7	-Na ⁺ efflux across plasma membrane and	-Shi et al., 2000;
(SOS1)	controls long distance Na ⁺ transport from	2003
C	root to shoot	
-AtCHX17	-K ⁺ transport	-Sze et al., 2004;
		Cellier et al.,2004
-AtCHX23	-pH homeostasis and chloroplast	-Song et al., 2004
6) 6	development	
-AtHKT1	- Na ⁺ re-circulation from shoot to root	- Berthomieu et al.,
9		2003 Apse et al.,
		2003

tolerance

In other plants, the genes encoding Na^+/H^+ antiporters have been cloned, such as barley, cotton, maize, rice. The recent cloning of the Na^+/H^+ antiporters from rice reveals the expression level was induced under salt stress condition. Overexpression of the rice Na^+/H^+ antiporter, OsNHX1, enhanced the salt tolerance of transgenic rice cells and plants (Apse *et al.*, 2003; Berthomieu *et al.*, 2003; Fukuda *et al.*, 2004; Wu *et al.*, 2004; Vasekina *et al.*, 2005; Zorb *et al.*, 2005).

4. Objectives

The organism used in this study is the unicellular halotolerant cyanobacterium, *A. halophytica* (This alga is classified into Chroococcales order, Chroococcacean cyanobacteria subgroup) (Geitler, 1932; Stanier *et al.*, 1971). This organism is an extremely halotolerant organism that can grow in a wide range of salinity conditions from 0.25-3.0 M NaCl (Takabe, 1988). In general, there are a number of protective mechanisms for cells thriving in changing salinity environment. Previously, *A. halophytica* was shown to accumulate a compatible solute, glycinebetaine, upon the increase in the external salinity (Takabe, 1988). Recently, it has been reported that Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters from *A. halophytica* can make *E. coli* and a freshwater cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* PCC 7942 tolerant to high salinity (Waditee *et al.*, 2002).

The main work of this thesis is to study Na^+/H^+ exchange under normal and high salinity condition in *A. halophytica*.

21

CHAPTER II

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

2.1 Instruments

Autoclave HV-110	: Hirayama, Japan
Autopipette	: Pipetman, Gilson, France
Centrifuge, refrigerated centrifuge	: Model J-21C, Beckman Instrument Inc, USA
Digital lux meter FT710	: Taiwan
French pressure cell	: SIM-Aminco Spectronic Instrument, USA
Illuminated/Refrigerated orbital	: Sanyo, England
Laminar flow BVT-124	: International Scientific Supply, Thailand
Luminescence spectrometer LS55	: Perkin Elmer, USA
Microcentrifuge 5417C	: Eppendoff, German
pH meter pH900	: Precisa, Switzerland
Spectrophotometer UV-240	: Shimadzu, Japan and Du series 650: Beckman,
	USA
Ultracentrifuge Optima L-100 XP	: Beckman coulter, USA
Vortex	: Model K-550-GE: Scientific Industries, USA

2.2 Chemicals

Amiloride	: Sigma, USA
Ammonium chloride	: Katayama Chem, Japan

Acridine orange	: BDH Chemicals Ltd, England	
Calcium chloride	: Merck Ag Darmstadt, Germany	
Carbonyl cyanide 3-chlorophynyl hydrazone (CCCP): Sigma, USA		
Choline chloride	: Sigma, USA	
Coomasie brilliant blue G-250	: Sigma, USA	
Coomasie brilliant blue R-251	: Sigma, USA	
Dextran T 500	:Amercharm bioscience, Sweden	
Dithiothreitol (DTT)	: Sigma, USA	
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA)	: Sigma, USA	
Ethanol	: Katayama Chem, Japan	
Ferric sulfate	: Mallinckrodt Chemical, USA	
HEPES	: Sigma, USA	
L-lactate	: Sigma, USA	
Lithium chloride	: Sigma, USA	
Magnesium chloride	: Merck Ag Darmstadt, Germany	
Magnesium sulfate	: Merck Ag Darmstadt, Germany	
MES	: Sigma, USA	
Monensin	: Sigma, USA	
N, N'-diclyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCCD)	: Sigma, USA	
Polyethylene glycol	: Sigma, USA	
Potassium chloride	: Merck Ag Darmatadt, Germany	
Sodium azide	: Sigma, USA	
Sodium nitrate	: Sigma, USA	
Sodium chloride	: Sigma, USA	
Sodium cyanide	: Sigma, USA	
: Fluka, German		

: BDH, England		
: Fluka, German		
: USB, USA		
: Packard, USA		
: Sigma, USA		

2.3 Bacterial strains

Aphanothece halophytica was initially isolated from Solar Lake in Israel. The organism was kindly provided by Dr. T. Takabe of Nagoya University, Japan.

Methods

2.4 Culture conditions

A. halophytica is a short cylindrical shape cyanobacterium surrounded with mucous membrane which multiplies by binary fission as shown in Figure 3.1. Cells were grown photoautotrophically in BG₁₁ medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island salt solution as described in Appendix A except that the NaCl concentration of the culture medium was adjusted to a 0.5 M for normal condition and 2.0 M for salt-stress condition. Cotton-plugged 250 ml conical flasks containing 100 ml of medium were used and shaken with 160 rpm on a reciprocal shaker without supplementation of condensed CO₂ gas. The culture flasks were incubated at 30 °C under continuous fluorescent white light (30 μ Em⁻²s⁻¹).

2.5 Measurements of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by intact cell

Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was measured by the acridine orange fluorescence quenching technique using Perkin-Elmer fluorimeter (Luminescence Spectrometer, LS-55) exciting light was set at 493 nm and emission light was at 525 nm. The assay mixture (total volume 1 ml) was composed of 0.5 M sorbitol, 10 mM HEPES/Tris buffer(pH 7.6), and 1 μ M acridine orange. *A. halophytica* cells (25 μ g protein) were added to the assay mixture which caused the accumulation of dye and fluorescence guenching (Q). To assess Na⁺/H⁺ exchange, NaCl solution was added to the mixture. Fluorescence increase (Δ Q) due to the excretion of H⁺ by antiporters was monitored. (Elanskaya *et al.*, 2001)

2.5.1 Effect of NaCl on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

A. halophytica cells were grown photoautotrophically in BG_{11} medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island salt solution as described Appendix A except that the NaCl concentration of the culture medium was adjusted to a 0.5 M. After seven days, cell culture of 100 ml was harvested at late exponential growth phase. The cells were concentrated by centrifugation at 8,000 rpm for 20 min, washed twice with the media that same salt concentration. *A. halophytica* cells were added to the assay mixture (25 µg). Where indicated, NaCl solution was added to the mixture to adjust the final concentration from 0 to 200 mM.

2.5.2 Growth-independent Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

Cells were grown photoautotrophically in BG_{11} medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island salt solution as described Appendix A except that the NaCl concentration of the culture medium was adjusted to a 0.5 M for normal condition and 2.0 M for salt-stress condition. At various time intervals for 2-15 days cells were

harvested and measured Na^+/H^+ exchange as described above. For salt conditions, NaCl solution was added to adjust the final concentration to 100 mM.

2.5.3 Effect of pH on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

Cells were grown photoautotrophically in BG₁₁ medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island salt solution as described in Appendix A except that the NaCl concentration of the culture medium was adjusted to 0.5 M. Dependence of pH on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was tested by varying the pH, 10 mM MES/Tris buffer (pH 5-6); 10 mM Hepes/Tris (pH 7-8) and 10 mM Glycine-NaOH buffer (pH 9-10) was used as the buffer and measuring Na⁺/H⁺ exchange as described in section 2.5. For salt condition, NaCl solution was added to the mixture to adjust the final concentration to 100 mM.

2.5.4 Effect of cations on H⁺ exchange in A. halophytica

Cells were grown photoautotrophically in BG_{11} medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island salt solution as described in Appendix A except that the NaCl concentration of the culture medium was adjusted to a 0.5 M. The cations/H⁺ exchange was monitored by adding 100 mM of either KCl, LiCl, CaCl₂ or MgCl₂ to the assay mixture. In case where the effect of the combination of two or three cations were tested, an equal concentration of each cation was added so that the final concentration was 100 mM.

2.5.5 Effect of metabolic inhibitors on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

Cells were grown photoautotrophically in BG_{11} medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island salt solution as described in Appendix A except that the NaCl concentration of the culture medium was adjusted to 0.5 M. Inhibitors including ionophores, ATPase inhibitors, energy dissipators were added to the reaction mixture

incubated for 30 min before initiation of the reaction. For salt conditon, NaCl solution was added to the mixture to adjust the final concentration to 100 mM.

2.6 Preparation of plasma membrane in A. halophytica cells

A. halophytica was grown in BG₁₁ medium containing 0.5 M NaCl. After seven days, cells attained late exponential growth phase. The cells were harvested by centrifugation at 8,000 rpm for 20 min and washed twice with 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.6, containing 0.25 M sucrose to protect the cells from lysis, 5 mM DTT and 0.14 M Chlorine chloride (TCDS buffer). The cells of were collected and the plasma membranes were prepared according to the method by Murata and Omata (1988). The cells were re-suspended in TCDS buffer (see Appendix B) and passed through a pre-cooled French press cell operating at 4000 psi followed by centrifugation at 8,000 rpm for 20 min to remove unbroken cells and cell debris. The resulting dark blue green supernatant contained a crude membrane mixture and was used as starting material for sucrose gradient and two phase partitioning.

2.6.1 Sucrose gradient separation

The procedure was carried out according to Omata *et al.* (1985) The dark blue green supernatant was centrifuged at 100,000 g for 1 hr and pellet made up to a sucrose concentration of 50% (w/v) by adding 90% sucrose solution. A 3 ml aliquot was placed at the bottom of a 12 ml centrifuge tube, overlaid with 2 ml of 39%, 3 ml of 30%, and 2 ml of 10% sucrose solutions (w/v), and centrifuged at 130,000g for 16 h at 4°C in a swinging bucket rotor (Beckman SW 41). Plasma membrane formed a band in the 30% sucrose layer and thylakoid membranes at the interface between the 39 and 50% sucrose layers. Cell walls were pelleted at the

bottom. The plasma membrane was withdrawn from the gradient and collected by centrifugation at 300,000g for1 h after 3-fold dilution with Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.6) containing 0.25 M sucrose .

2.6.2 Aqueous polymer two-phase partitioning

The procedure was carried out according to Norling *et al.* (1994). Crude membranes prepared as described in section 2.6 were centrifuged at 100,000 g for 1 hr. This pellet was suspended to a total volume of 5 ml in 0.25 M sucrose, 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.6, and 5 g of the suspension was added to the 10 g phase mixture (see Appendix C) to give a 15 g phase system with a final concentration of 5.6 % (w/w) Dextran T-500, 5.6 % (w/w) polyethylene glycol, 0.25 M sucrose and 5 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.6. The partitioning was performed by turning the tube gently upside-down 20-30 times at 4 °C. After mixing, phase setting was facilitated by centrifugation for 5 min at 3,000 g and the upper and lower phases were collected separately. Plasma membranes were in lower phase. The lower phase was diluted 2fold with Tris-HCl buffer (pH 7.6) containing 0.25 M sucrose and plasma membranes were collected by ultra centrifugation at 100,000 g for 1 hr.

2.6.3 Absorption spectra

As a purity criterion for plasma membrane, the ratio between the absorption at 485 nm (carotenoid) and at 680 nm (chlorophyll) was used, since plasma membranes contain carotenoids absorbing at 485 nm but do not contain chlorophyll which absorbs at 680 nm (Murata and Omata, 1988). Absorption spectra of the different membrane fractions were measured at room temperature with spectrophotometer. The samples were measured for the absorption ratio between carotenoid absorption (485 nm) and chlorophyll absorption (680 nm) after increasing number of partitioning steps. For comparison, the 485/680 absorption ratio for the total mixture of cyanobacterial membranes (crude membrane) before partitioning was also determined (Norling *et al.*, 1994).

2.6.4 Electron micrographs of plasma membrane vesicles

Plasma membrane vesicles were analyzed by electron microscopy. Membrane vesicles were stored in -80 °C before used. Optical microscopy was performed with a microscope (Axioskop FL, Carl Zeiss, Gottingen, Germany) that was equipped with a high-definition image-capture camera (model HC-1000, Fujix, Tokyo). For electron microscopy, cells were pelleted by centrifugation at 3,000*g* for 5 min and then immediately fixed for 1 h with 2% (v/v) glutaraldehyde in 100 mM sodium phosphate (pH 7.2). After rinsing overnight in sodium phosphate buffer, samples were post-fixed in 1% (v/v) osmium tetraoxide for 1 h before dehydration by passage through a graded ethanol series (50%–100%, v/v). Then samples were infiltrated with and embedded in resin (Araldite CY-212, Ouken, Tokyo). Thin sections were mounted on copper grids, stained with uranyl acetate, and examined under an electron microscope (model 1200EX, JEOL, Tokyo).

2.6.5 Measurements of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by plasma membrane vesicles.

The exchange activity was estimated from the changes of ΔpH (transmembrane pH gradient) by the addition of salt to the reaction mixture, which contained 10 mM Tris-HCl (titrated with HCl to the indicated pH), 5 mM MgCl₂, 0.14 M choline chloride, 1 μ M acridine orange, and membrane vesicles (25 μ g of protein) in a volume of 1 ml. The ΔpH was monitored with acridine orange fluorescence, which was obtained by excitation at 493 nm and emission at 525 nm. Before the addition of salt, Tris-DL-lactate (2 mM) was added to initiate fluorescence quenching (Q) due to respiration. Lactate energizes the vesicle and accumulates H^+ intravesiculary, which causes the accumulation of dye and fluorescence quenching (Q). Upon the addition of salt (5 mM), fluorescence increases because of the excretion of H^+ by antiporters and dequenched fluorescence (ΔQ) was monitored. Then, NH₄Cl (25 mM) was added to dissipate ΔpH .



CHAPTER III

RESULTS

3.1 Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by intact cell

A. halophytica is a short cylindrical shape cyanobacterium surrounded with mucous membrane (Fig. 3.1). The cells multiply by binary fission. The cells were grown photoautotrophically in a BG₁₁ medium plus 18 mM NaNO₃ and Turk Island Salt Solution, pH of medium was adjusted to 7.6 at different NaCl concentrations. To examine the exchange activity, cells were monitored by measuring the accumulation of dye induced fluorescence quenching (Q) and salt induced fluorescence dequenching (ΔQ) as shown in Fig. 3.2. The data were shown as % Fluorescence [($\Delta Q/Q$) x 100].

3.1.1 Effect of NaCl on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

We tested the effect of NaCl on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by intact cells and found that increasing the concentration of NaCl up to 200 mM resulted in a saturable fluorescence rate above 100 mM NaCl (Fig. 3.3). The results indicated that the higher amount of H⁺ or Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was enhanced by NaCl. Michaelis-Menten kinetics were revealed, and calculated apparent K_m values of approximately 23.7 mM and 22.1 mM , whereas V_{max} value were 15.0 and 20.0 % fluorescence for NaCl in A. *halophytica* grown in 0.5 and 2.0 mM NaCl, respectively.

3.1.2 Growth-independent Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

Growth of *A. halophytica* cells in the medium containing 2 M NaCl showed the similar growth pattern to cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl up to 20 days (Fig. 3.4). However, growth was not as rapid as that of normal cells (0.5 M NaCl) indicating salt stress affected the growth rate of *A. halophytica*. In addition, cells grown both under 2.0 M and 0.5 M NaCl also showed the highest fluorescence values of 20% at around 7-days suggesting that higher amount of H⁺ was extruded from cells (Fig. 3.5). Although salt has caused the reduction of the growth rate, it has no effect on the activity of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange.





Figure 3.1 Microscopic picture of *Aphanothece halophytica* grown in Turk Island Salt Solution plus BG₁₁ at 14 days (x 2250).





The diagram of Ne⁺/U⁺ evolution of measured by the e

Figure 3.2 The diagram of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange as measured by the acridine orange fluorescence quenching method as described in Materials and

Methods.



Figure 3.3 Effect of NaCl on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. A) cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl
B).cells grown in 2.0 M NaCl. The data are the average of 3 replicates ±
S.E. (n=3)



Figure 3.4 Growth of A. halophytica in Turk Island Salt Solution plus modified BG11 medium. Symbols represent cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl (▲) and in 2.0 M NaCl (■).The data are the average of 3 replicates ± S.E. (n=3).





3.1.3 Effect of external pH on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange

Since Na^+/H^+ exchange is involved in H^+ circulation, we therefore further tested whether the changes in external pH could affect its activity. Among the pH values tested, highest fluorescence value of 25 % occurred at neutral pH of 7.0 (Fig. 3.6). However, alkaline conditions gave slightly higher activity than acidic condition. The results indicated that the optimal pH for Na^+/H^+ exchange was 7.0

3.1.4 Effect of cations on H⁺ exchange in A. halophytica

To determine cation on H⁺ exchange under various types of cation such as Na⁺, Li⁺, K⁺, Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺. As shown in Fig. 3.7, the cation/H⁺ exchange provided the maximal activity with 20 % fluorescence when addition 0f 100 mM NaCl. While, other monovalent cations, namely, Li⁺ and K⁺ were able to provide 19 and 14 % fluorescence, respectively. Furthermor, divalent cation, such as Mg²⁺ showed the lowest activity with 11 % fluorescence. In this study, indicating that these cation/H⁺ exchange were able to work under various types of cations. In addition, the combination f cations such as Na⁺ plus K⁺, Na⁺ plus Li⁺, and Na⁺ plus Ca²⁺ etc.(Fig. 3.8) were used to observe the activity of cation/ H^+ exchange. The activity was roughly in range of 13-18 % fluorescence, suggesting that they did not highly change of activity by combination of cations. The kinetics of cation/ H^+ exchange by A. halophytica werw studied by various LiCl and CaCl₂ concentrations ranging from 0-200 Mm (Fig. 3.9). The exchange system was saturable and displayed typical Michaelis-Menten kinetics. Lineweaver-Berke transformation of this data gave the following kinetic parameter: $K_{\rm m}$ was 36.0 mM, $V_{\rm max}$ was 16.0 % fluorescence for LiCl and: $K_{\rm m}$ was 4.4 mM, $V_{\rm max}$ was 14.5 % fluorescence for CaCl₂.



Figure 3.6 Effect of pH on Na^+/H^+ exchange of cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl. The data

are the average of 3 replicates \pm S.E. (n=3).







Figure 3.8 Effect of combination of cation on cation/ H^+ exchange of cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl. The data are the average of 3 replicates <u>+</u> S.E. (n=3).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย



C.

Figure 3.9 Effect of LiCl (A) and CaCl₂(B) on Na⁺/H⁺ exchange of cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl. The data are the average of 3 replicates \pm S.E. (n=3).

3.1.5 Inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by metabolic inhibitors

To determine the requirement of energy for Na⁺/H⁺ exchange, the effects of some inhibitors on the activity were studied. The results in Fig. 3.10 show that sodium azide, which is involved in ATP formation, was effective inhibitor of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. *N*, N' dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCCD), an ATPase inhibitor causing a reduction in pH gradient, also effectively inhibited Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. Carbonyl cyanide *m*-chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP), a proton conductor, inhibited Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. Valinomycin, an inhibitor collapsing the electrical potential with a reduction in $\Delta \psi$, inhibited Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. Similarly inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was also observed with amiloride, an inhibitor of Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger. Na⁺-gradient dissipators, monensin and Na⁺-ionophore, caused strong inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. All these results indicate that the proton motive force plays an important role in activity of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange.



Figure 3.10 Inhibition of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by metabolic inhibitors of cells grown in 0.5 M NaCl. The data are the average of 3 replicates

<u>+</u> S.E. (n=3).

44

3.2 Preparation of plasma membrane in A. halophytica cells

3.2.1 Sucrose gradient separation

Plasma membrane formed a band in the 30% sucrose layer and thylakoid membranes at the interface between the 39 and 50% sucrose layers. Cell walls were pelleted at the bottom (Fig. 3.11)

3.2.2 Aqueous polymer two-phase partitioning

The procedure was carried out according to Norling, et al. (1994). Crude membranes prepared as described in section 2.6 were centrifuged at 100,000 g for 1 hr. This pellet was suspended to a total volume of 5 ml in 0.25 M sucrose, 10 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.6, and 5 g of the suspension was added to the 10 g phase mixture (see Appendix D) to give a 15 g phase system with a final concentration of 5.6 % (w/w) Dextran T-500, 5.6 % (w/w) polyethylene glycol, 0.25 M sucrose and 5 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.6. The partitioning was performed by turning the tube gently upside-down 20-30 times at 4 °C. After mixing, phase setting was facilitated by centrifugation for 5 min at 3,000 g and the upper and lower phases were collected separately. Plasma membranes were in lower phase. (Fig. 3.12)

(3.2.3 Electron micrograph of isolated plasma membranes

Figure 3.13 shows an electronmicrograph obtained from the plasma membranes preparation. The membranes shows vesicle diameter in the range of 0.1-0.22 m. The electrodense, amorphous structures seen in the electron micrograph are probably aggregates of lipophilic compounds often seen in membrane preparations

3.2.4 Absorption spectra

Table 3.1 shows absorption ratio between carotenoid absorption (485 nm) and chlorophyll absorption (680 nm). The absorption ratio at 485/680 nm was increase from 1.70 in total membrane to 6.5 in plasma membrane (sucrose gradient separation) and 1.75 in two-phase system, indicating that purification and pronounced enrichment of the plasma membrane.

3.3 Na⁺/H⁺ exchange by plasma membrane vesicle

According to the material and method plasma membrane vesicle was measured for Na^+/H^+ exchange. However, we could not detect activity using that method.





Figure 3.11 Appearance of plasma membrane as separated by sucrose gradient centrifugation. A) cell grown in 0.5 M NaCl and B) cell grown in 2.0 M NaCl



Figure 3.12 Partition of total cyanobacteria membrane in two-phase system (5.6 %

dextran/5.6 % PEG).



Figure 3.13 Electron micrograph of the plasma membrane preparation. Scale bar =



Fraction	A ₄₈₅ /A ₆₈₀
Total membrane	1.7
Sucrose gradient	6.5
Two phase phase partitoning	1.75

Table 3.1 Ratio between carotenoid absorption (485 nm) and chlorophyll absorption(680 nm) of total membrane and plasma membrane.



CHAPTER IV

DISCUSSION

The results presented in this study demonstrated the existence of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in halotolerant cyanobacterium *Aphanothece halophytica*. Indeed, *A. halophytica* grown under normal condition (0.5 M NaCl) and stress condition (2 M NaCl) show no different pattern of growth rate, suggesting that cells have mechanisms that allow them to adapt to changes in the concentration of salt in the environment. Among these mechanisms, one of the most clearly understood systems is the extrusion of sodium ion needed to balance and maintain sodium level. Previously, the response of *A. halophytica* to an increase in salinity showed the increased expression of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange under salt stress conditions (Waditee *et al*, 2001 and Wutipraditkul *et al*, 2005).

It is worthwhile noting that there is an apparent disparity of the data between an exchange and the growth rate of cells. *A. halophytica* cells grown from one day until stationary stage were used to monitor of Na⁺/ H⁺ exchange. The results provide the data that exchange of intact cells at log phase (seven days) was much greater than the others, suggesting that the optimal growth condition used for further assay exchange should be the cells grown in range of log stage. Results in Fig. 3.3 exhibited the significant exchange of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange measured by using the whole cells following the concentration gradient of Na⁺. Increasing of NaCl concentration resulted in the increasing percent of fluorescence. Michaelis-Menten kinetics were revealed, and calculated apparent K_m values of approximately 23.7 mM and 22.1 mM for NaCl in *A. halophytica* grown in 0.5 and 2.0 M NaCl, respectively. Previously, the everted membrane vesicles of *E.coli* contained Ap-NhaP were used to observe the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter activity, the apparent K_m and V_{max} values of ApNhaP1 for Na⁺ was 1.75 mM and 49 (% dequenching) at pH 7.0 and did not change so much upon the change of pH (pH 8.0 and 9.0) (Waditee *et al.*, 2006), whilst everted membrane vesicles of *E.coli* containing NhaD-G327S of *Alkalimonas amylolytica* showed the apparent K_m value of 3 mM for NaCl (Liu *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, the low affinity and high affinity Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter of nhaS1 and nhaS3 *of Synechocystis* sp. PCC6803 *in E. coli* transformant exhibited the apparent K_m values of 7.7 mM and 0.7 mM, respectively (Inaba *et al.*, 2001)

One of the properties of Na^+/H^+ exchange is their pH dependence and roles in salt tolerance at alkaline pH. The results in Fig. 3.6 showed that the activity was observed over a wide range, which was maximal at pH value of 7.0 whereas alkaline condition gave higher exchange than acidic condition. This is similar to the previous results for Ap-NapA and Ap-NhaP type Na^+/H^+ antiporters, which exhibited high exchange activities over a wide range (pH 5.0-9.0) (Waditee *et al*, 2001 and Wutipraditkul *et al*, 2005).

Monovalent cation/proton antipoters play dominant roles in cells that have several antiporters catalyzing similar reactions (Padan *et al.*, 2005). The Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter could use K⁺, Li⁺ and Ca⁺ as a coupling ion; for example, *E. coli* ChaA has the proton/cation exchange activity with Na⁺ or Ca²⁺, but not Li⁺ or K⁺ (Ivey *et al.*, 1993; Ohyama *et al.*, 1994). Correspondingly, Ap-NhaP could use Na⁺ and Ca²⁺ (Waditee *et al*, 2001), whereas Ap-NapA could use Na⁺ and Li⁺ (Wutipraditkul *et al*, 2005). According to the present results in Fig. 3.7, *A. halophytica* cells could use K⁺, Li⁺, Mg²⁺and Ca²⁺ exchange for H⁺. Increasing the concentration of mono-cations gradient resulted in an increase of exchanger activity in Fig. 3.9. Michaelis-Menten kinetics were revealed, and calculated apparent $K_{\rm m}$ values were approximately 36.0 mM and 4.4 mM for LiCl and CaCl₂, respectively.

Hence all cells have sodium extrusion via the Na^+/H^+ antiporters which catalyze the exchange of Na⁺ for H⁺ across membranes. The primary energy source for this system in most organisms is the proton electrochemical gradient across the cytoplasmic membrane. This proton electrochemical gradient is derived either from respiratory electron transport or at the expense of ATP formed during substrate-level phosphorylation by activity of the membrane ATPase (Wiebe *et al*, 2001). The energy of the proton motive force may be converted to a sodium motive force through Na⁺/H⁺ antiport activity as found in *Alteromonas haloplanktis* (Niven and MacLeod, 1978), Halobacterium halobium (Lanyi and MacDonald, 1976), alkalophilic bacilli (Mandel, 1980) Mycoplasma mycoides (Benyoucef et al., 1982). The present results shown in Fig. 3.10 provide evidence that Na⁺/H⁺ exchange required energy. The exchange was inhibited when ATP formation inhibitor, namely sodium azide, was added. The Na⁺/H⁺ exchange was inhibited by N, N' dicyclohexylcarbodiimide (DCCD), pH gradient dissipator and carbonyl cyanide m-chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP), a proton conductor. Furthermore, valinomycin, an inhibitor collapsing the electrical potential with a reduction in $\Delta \psi$, inhibited Na⁺/H⁺ exchange. These results suggested that the exchange is dependent on proton gradient. Besides, the abolition of Na^+ transport observed in the presence of either the Na^+ ionophore, monensin suggested that the transport is dependent on Na⁺ gradient. Similarly inhibition of Na^+/H^+ exchange was also observed with amiloride, an inhibitor of Na^+/H^+ exchanger. All these results indicate that the proton motive force plays an important role in activity of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in *A. halophytica*.

Membrane vesicles prepared from *A. halophytica* cells grown under non-stress (0.5 M NaCl) and stress condition (2.0 M NaCl) showed no Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger activity compared to whole cells. It is possible that the preparations consisted entirely of damaged membrane vesicle. However, detailed studies to elucidate the role of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter are needed for *A. halophytica*.



CHAPTER V

CONCLUSIONS

The results of the present investigation can be summarized as follows:

- Sodium extrusion within cells depends on Na⁺ gradient and plays an important role in exchange of Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in *A. halophytica*.
- 2. Michaelis-Menten kinetics were revealed, and calculated apparent K_m values were approximately 23.7 mM and 22.1 mM for NaCl in *A. halophytica* grown in 0.5 and 2.0 M NaCl respectively.
- The metabolic inhibitor, namely, sodium azide and ionophores, namely CCCP, DCCD, valinomycin, and monensin and ATPase inhibitor, namely, vanadate inhibited Na⁺/H⁺ exchange.
- 4. Na⁺/H⁺ exchange of *A. halophytica* depends on pH, it showed maximal activity at pH 7.0. Besides, alkaline condition gave slightly higher activity than acidic condition.
- 5. The cation/ H^+ exchange could also occur with ions such as K^+ , Li^+ and Ca^{2+} .

REFFERENCES

- Andresen, P. A., Kaasen, I., Styrvold, O. B., Boulnois, G. and Strom, A. R. (1988).
 Molecular cloning, physical mapping and expression of the bet genes governing the osmoregulatory choline-glycine betaine pathway of *Escherichia coli. J Gen Microbiol.* 134: 1737-1746.
- Apse, M. P., Aharon, G. S., Snedden, W. A. and Blumwald, E. (1999). Salt Tolerance
 Conferred by Overexpression of a Vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ Antiport in Arabidopsis.
 Science. 285: 1256-1258.
- Apse, M. P., Sottosanto, J. B. and Blumwald, E. (2003). Vacuolar cation/H⁺ exchange, ion homeostasis, and leaf development are altered in a T-DNA insertional mutant of AtNHX1, the Arabidopsis vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. *The Plant Journal.* 36: 229-239.
- Benyoucef, M., Rigaud, J. L. and Leblanc, G. (1982). Cation transport mechanisms in *Mycoplasma mycoides* var. Capri cells. The nature of the link between K⁺ and Na⁺ transport. *Biochem J.* 208: 539-547.
- Berthomieu, P., Conejero, G., Nublat, A., Brackenbury, W. J., Lambert, C., Savio, C., Uozumi, N., Oiki, S., Yamada, K., Cellier, F., Gosti, F., Simonneau, T., Essah, P. A., Tester, M., Very, A. A., Sentenac, H. and Casse, F. (2003). Functional analysis of AtHKT1 in Arabidopsis shows that Na⁺ recirculation by the phloem is crucial for salt tolerance. *Embo Journal*. 22: 2004-2014.
- Bettina, K. and Bremer, E. (1998). Uptake and synthesis of compatible solutes as microbial stress responses to high-osmolality environments. *Arch Microbiol*. 170: 319-330.

- Blumwald, E., Wolosin, J. M. and Packer, L. (1984). Na⁺/H⁺ exchange in the cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* 6311. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*. 122: 452-459.
- Blumwald, E., Aharon, G. S. and Apse, M. P. (2000). Sodium transport in plant cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes*. 1465: 140-151.
- Brett, C. L., Donowitz, M. and Rao, R. (2005). Evolutionary origins of eukaryotic sodium/proton exchangers. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 288: C223-239.
- Brouquisse, R., Weigel, P., Rhodes, D., Yocum, C. F. and Hanson, A. D. (1989).Evidence for a Ferredoxin-Dependent Choline Monooxygenase from Spinach Chloroplast Stroma. *Plant Physiol.* 90: 322-329.
- Cellier, F., Conejero, G., Ricaud, L., Luu, D. T., Lepetit, M., Gosti, F. and Casse, F. (2004). Characterization of AtCHX17, a member of the cation/H⁺ exchangers, CHX family, from Arabidopsis thaliana suggests a role in K⁺ homeostasis. *Plant J.* 39: 834-846.
- Csonka, L. N. and Hanson, A. D. (1991). Prokaryotic Osmoregulation: Genetics and Physiology. *Annual Review of Microbiology*. 45: 569-606.
- Denker, S. P., Huang, D. C., Orlowski, J., Furthmayr, H. and Barber, D. L. (2000). Direct binding of the Na-H exchanger NHE1 to ERM proteins regulates the cortical cytoskeleton and cell shape independently of H⁺ translocation. *Molecular Cell*. 6: 1425-1436.
- Dover, N. and Padan, E. (2001). Transcription of nhaA, the Main Na⁺/H⁺ Antiporter of *Escherichia coli*, Is Regulated by Na⁺ and Growth Phase. *J Bacteriol*. 183: 644-653.

- Elanskaya, I. V., Karandashova, I. V., Bogachev, A. V. and Hagemann, M. (2002). Functional analysis of the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter encoding genes of the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* PCC 6803. *Biochemistry (Mosc)*. 67: 432-440.
- Flowers, T. J. and Yeo, A.R. (1995) Breeding for salinity resistance in crop plants: where next? *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology* 22: 875-884.
- Fukuda, A., Nakamura, A., Tagiri, A., Tanaka, H., Miyao, A., Hirochika, H. and Tanaka, Y. (2004). Function, Intracellular Localization and the Importance in Salt Tolerance of a Vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ Antiporter from Rice. *Plant and Cell Physiology*. 45: 146-159.
- Galinski, E. A. and Truper, H. G. (1994). Microbial behaviour in salt-stressed ecosystems. *FEMS Microbiology Reviews*. 15: 95-108.
- Gaxiola, R. A., Rao, R., Sherman, A., Grisafi, P., Alper, S. L. and Fink, G. R. (1999).The Arabidopsis thaliana proton transporters, AtNhx1 and Avp1, can function in cation detoxification in yeast. *PNAS*. 96: 1480-1485.
- Hamada, A., Hibino, T., Nakamura, T. and Takabe, T. (2001). Na⁺/H⁺ Antiporter from *Synechocystis* Species PCC 6803, Homologous to SOS1, Contains an Aspartic Residue and Long C-Terminal Tail Important for the Carrier Activity. *Plant Physiology*. 125: 437-446.
- Hanson, A. D., May, A. M., Grumet, R., Bode, J., Jamieson, G. C. and Rhodes, D. (1985). Betaine Synthesis in Chenopods: Localization in Chloroplasts. *PNAS*. 82: 3678-3682.
- Hanson, A. D., Rathinasabapathi, B., Rivoal, J., Burnet, M., Dillon, M. O. and Gage,
 D. A. (1994). Osmoprotective Compounds in the Plumbaginaceae: A Natural Experiment in Metabolic Engineering of Stress Tolerance. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 91: 306-310.

- Inaba, M., Sakamoto, A. and Murata, N. (2001). Functional Expression in Escherichia coli of Low-Affinity and High-Affinity Na⁺(Li⁺)/H⁺ Antiporters of Synechocystis. *J Bacteriol.* 183: 1376-1384.
- Ishitani, M., Takabe, T., Kojima, K. and Takabe, T. (1993). Regulation of Glycinebetaine Accumulation in the Halotolerant Cyanobacterium *Aphanothece Halophytica. Australian Journal of Plant Physiology.* 20: 693-703.
- Ivey, D. M., Guffanti, A. A., Zemsky, J., Pinner, E., Karpel, R., Padan, E., Schuldiner, S. and Krulwich, T. A. (1993). Cloning and characterization of a putative Ca²⁺/H⁺ antiporter gene from *Escherichia coli* upon functional complementation of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter- deficient strains by the overexpressed gene. *J. Biol. Chem.* 268: 11296-11303.
- Kaneko, T., Sato, S., Kotani, H., Tanaka, A., Asamizu, E., Nakamura, Y., Miyajima, N., Hirosawa, M., Sugiura, M., Sasamoto, S., Kimura, T., Hosouchi, T., Matsuno, A., Muraki, A., Nakazaki, N., Naruo, K., Okumura, S., Shimpo, S., Takeuchi, C., Wada, T., Watanabe, A., Yamada, M., Yasuda, M. and Tabata, S. (1996). Sequence Analysis of the Genome of the Unicellular Cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. Strain PCC6803. II. Sequence Determination of the Entire Genome and Assignment of Potential Protein-coding Regions. *DNA Research.* 3: 109-136.
- Karpel, R., Olami, Y., Taglicht, D., Schuldiner, S. and Padan, E. (1988). Sequencing of the gene ant which affects the Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter activity in Escherichia coli. *J. Biol. Chem.* 263: 10408-10414.
- Kinclova, O., Potier, S. and Sychrova, H. (2002). Difference in substrate specificity divides the yeast alkali-metal-cation/H⁺ antiporters into two subfamilies. *Microbiology*. 148: 1225-1232.
- Lanyi, J. K. (1974). Salt-dependent properties of proteins from extremely halophilic bacteria. *Bacteriol. Rev.* 38: 272 290
- Lanyi, J. K. and MacDonald, R. E. (1976). Existence of electrogenic hydrogen ion/sodium ion antiport in Halobacterium halobium cell envelope vesicles. *Biochemistry*. 15: 4608-4614.
- Le Rudulier, D., Storm, A. R., Dandekar, A. M., Smith, L. T., and Valentine, R. C. (1984). Molecular biology of osmoregulation. *Science*. 224: 1064-1068.
- Lehoux, S., Abe, J.-i., Florian, J. A. and Berk, B. C. (2001). 14-3-3 Binding to Na⁺/H⁺ Exchanger Isoform-1 Is Associated with Serum-dependent Activation of Na⁺/H⁺ Exchange. *J. Biol. Chem.* 276: 15794-15800.
- Liu, J., Xue, Y., Wang, Q., Wei, Y., Swartz, T. H., Hicks, D. B., Ito, M., Ma, Y. and Krulwich, T. A. (2005). The Activity Profile of the NhaD-Type Na⁺(Li⁺)/H⁺ Antiporter from the Soda Lake *Haloalkaliphile Alkalimonas* amylolytica Is Adaptive for the Extreme Environment. *J. Bacteriol.* 187: 7589-7595.
- Mackey, M. A., Norton, R. S., and Borowitzka, L. J. (1984). Organic osmoregulatory solutes in cyanobacteria. *J. Gen. Microbiol.* 130: 2177-2191.
- Mandel, K. G., Guffanti, A. A. and Krulwich, T. A. (1980). Monovalent cation/proton antiporters in membrane vesicles from *Bacillus alcalophilus*. J. Biol. Chem. 255: 7391-7396.
- Maser, P., Thomine, S., Schroeder, J. I., Ward, J. M., Hirschi, K., Sze, H., Talke, I.N., Amtmann, A., Maathuis, F. J. M., Sanders, D., Harper, J. F., Tchieu, J.,Gribskov, M., Persans, M. W., Salt, D. E., Kim, S. A. and Guerinot, M. L.

(2001). Phylogenetic Relationships within Cation Transporter Families of Arabidopsis. *Plant Physiol.* 126: 1646-1667.

- Mikkat, S., Milkowski, C. and Hagemann, M. (2000). The gene sll0273 of the cyanobacterium *Synechocystis* sp. strain PCC6803 encodes a protein essential for growth at low Na⁺/K⁺ ratios. *Plant, Cell & Environment.* 23: 549-559.
- Mitsui, K., Kamauchi, S., Nakamura, N., Inoue, H. and Kanazawa, H. (2004). A Conserved Domain in the Tail Region of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Na⁺/H⁺ Antiporter (Nha1p) Plays Important Roles in Localization and Salinity-Resistant Cell-Growth. *J. Biochem.* 135: 139-148.
- Nitschmann, W. H. and Packer, L. (1992). NMR studies on Na⁺ transport in Synechococcus PCC 6311. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* 294: 347-52.
- Niven, D. F. and MacLeod, R. A. (1978). Sodium ion-proton antiport in a marine bacterium. J. Bacteriol. . 134: 737-743.
- Ohyama, T., Igarashi, K. and Kobayashi, H. (1994). Physiological role of the chaA gene in sodium and calcium circulations at a high pH in *Escherichia coli*. J Bacteriol. 176: 4311-4315.
- Oren, A. (1986). Intracellular salt concentrations of the anaerobic halophilic eubacteria Haloanaerobium praevalens and Halobacteroides halobius. Can. J. Microbiol. 32: 4-9.
- Oren, A. (1999). Bioenergetic Aspects of Halophilism. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews*. 63: 334-348.
- Oren, A., Heldal, M., and Norland, S. 1997. X-ray microanalysis of intracellular ions in the anaerobic halophilic eubacterium *Haloanaerobium praevalens*. Can. J.Microbiol. 43: 588- 592.

- Orlowski, J. and Grinstein, S. (1997). Na⁺/H⁺ Exchangers of Mammalian Cells. *J Biol Chem.* 272: 22373-22376.
- Padan, E., Vitterbo, A. and Lester Packer and Alexander, N. G. (1988). [61] Cation transport in cyanobacteria. <u>Methods Enzymol</u>, Academic Press. Volume 167: 561-572.
- Padan, E. and Schuldiner, S. (1996). Bacterial Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters: molecular biology, biochemistry, and physiology; in Handbook of Biological Physics, Konings, W. N., Kaback, H. R. and Lolkema, J. S. (eds.), Elsevier Science, Amsterdam, the Netherlands. PP: 501 531.
- Padan, E., Bibi, E., Ito, M. and Krulwich, T. A. (2005). Alkaline pH homeostasis in bacteria: new insights. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 1717: 67-88.
- Pang, T., Su, X., Wakabayashi, S. and Shigekawa, M. (2001). Calcineurin Homologous Protein as an Essential Cofactor for Na⁺/H⁺ Exchangers. J. Biol. Chem. 276: 17367-17372.
- Rengpipat, S., Lowe, S. E. and Zeikus, J. G. (1988). Effect of extreme salt concentrations on the physiology and biochemistry of *Halobacteroides acetoethylicus*. *J Bacteriol*. 170: 3065-3071.
- Rhodes, D. and Hanson, A. D. (1993). Quaternary Ammonium and Tertiary Sulfonium Compounds in Higher Plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology. 44: 357-384.
- Robertson, D. E., Noll, D., Roberts, J. A., Menaia, G. F., and Boone, D. R. (1990).
 Detection of osmoregulator betaine in methanogens. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 56: 563- 565.

- Robinson, S. P. and Jones G.P. (1986). Accumulation of glycine betaine in chloroplast provides osmotic adjustment during salt stress. Aust. J. Plant Physiol. 13: 659-668.
- Rosen, B. P. (1986). Ion extrusion systems in *Escherichia coli*. *Methods Enzymol*. 125: 328-336.
- Shi, H., Ishitani, M., Kim, C. and Zhu, J.-K. (2000). The Arabidopsis *thaliana* salt tolerance gene SOS1 encodes a putative Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter. *Proc. Nati. Acad. Sci. USA*. 97: 6896-6901.
- Shi, H., Lee, B.-h., Wu, S.-J. and Zhu, J.-K. (2003). Overexpression of a plasma membrane Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter gene improves salt tolerance in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Nat Biotech*. 21: 81-85.
- Smith, L. T., Pocard, J. A., Bernard, T. and Le Rudulier, D. (1988). Osmotic control of glycine betaine biosynthesis and degradation in Rhizobium meliloti. J Bacteriol. 170: 3142-3149.
- Song, C. P., Guo, Y., Qiu, Q. S., Lambert, G., Galbraith, D. W., Jagendorf, A. and Zhu, J. K. (2004). A probable Na⁺(K⁺)/H⁺ exchanger on the chloroplast envelope functions in pH homeostasis and chloroplast development in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Proc. Nati. Acad. Sci. USA*. 101: 10211-10216.
- Soong, T.-W., Yong, T.-F., Ramanan, N. and Wang, Y. (2000). The Candida albicans antiporter gene CNH1 has a role in Na⁺ and H⁺ transport, salt tolerance, and morphogenesis. *Microbiology*. 146: 1035-1044.
- Southworth, T. W., Guffanti, A. A., Moir, A. and Krulwich, T. A. (2001). GerN, an Endospore Germination Protein of Bacillus cereus, Is an Na⁺/H⁺-K⁺ Antiporter. *J Bacteriol.* 183: 5896-5903.

- Strausak, D., Waser, M. and Solioz, M. (1993). Functional expression of the Enterococcus hirae NaH-antiporter in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem. 268: 26334-26337.
- Sze, H., Padmanaban, S., Cellier, F., Honys, D., Cheng, N. H., Bock, K. W., Conejero, G., Li, X. Y., Twell, D., Ward, J. M. and Hirschi, K. D. (2004). Expression patterns of a novel AtCHX gene family highlight potential roles in osmotic adjustment and K⁺ homeostasis in pollen development. *Plant Physi.* 136: 2532-2547.
- Takabe, T., Incharoensakdi, A., Arakawa, K. and Yokota, S. (1988). CO2 fixation and RuBisCO content increase in a highly halotolerant cyanobacterium *Aphanothece halophytica*, grown in high salinity. *Plant Physiol.* 88: 1120- 1124.
- Vasekina, A. V., Yershov, P. V., Reshetova, O. S., Tikhonova, T. V., Lunin, V. G., Trofimova, M. S. and Babakov, A. V. (2005). Vacuolar Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from barley: Identification and response to salt stress. *Biochemistry-Moscow*. 70: 100-107.
- Ventosa, A., Nieto, J. J. and Oren, A. (1998). Biology of Moderately Halophilic Aerobic Bacteria. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev.* 62: 504-544.
- Waditee, R., Hibino, T., Nakamura, T., Incharoensakdi, A. and Takabe, T. (2002).
 Overexpression of a Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter confers salt tolerance on a freshwater cyanobacterium, making it capable of growth in sea water. *Proc. Nati. Acad. Sci. USA*. 99: 4109-4114.
- Waditee, R., Hibino, T., Tanaka, Y., Nakamura, T., Incharoensakdi, A. and Takabe, T. (2001). Halotolerant cyanobacterium *Aphanothece halophytica* contains an Na(⁺)/H(⁺) antiporter, homologous to eukaryotic ones, with novel ion specificity affected by C-terminal tail. *J Biol Chem.* 276: 36931-36938.

- Waditee, R., Buaboocha, T., Kato, M., Hibino, T., Suzuki, S., Nakamura, T. and Takabe, T. (2006). Carboxyl-terminal hydrophilic tail of a NhaP type Na⁺/H⁺ antiporter from cyanobacteria is involved in the apparent affinity for Na⁺ and pH sensitivity. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics. 450: 113-121.
- Wakabayashi, S., Pang, T., Su, X. and Shigekawa, M. (2000) A novel topology model of the human Na⁺/H⁺ exchanger isoform 1. *J. Biol. Chem.* 275, 7942-7949.
- Wang, H.-L., Postier, B. L. and Burnap, R. L. (2002). Polymerase chain reactionbased mutageneses identify key transporters belonging to multigene families involved in Na⁺ and pH homeostasis of *Synechocystis* sp. PCC 6803. *Molecular Microbiology*. 44: 1493-1506.
- Wiebe, C. A., Dibattista, E. R. and Fliegel, L. (2001). Functional role of polar amino acid residues in Na⁺/H⁺ exchangers. *Biochem. J.* 357: 1-10.
- Wood, J. M. (1999). Osmosensing by bacteria: signal and membrane based sensors.Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 63: 230-262.
- Wood, J. M., Erhard, M., Laszlo, N. C., Reinhard, K., Bert, P., Tiemen, vander. H., and Linda, T. S. (2001). Osmosensing and osmoregulatory compatible solute accumulation by bacteria. *Compare. Biochem. Physiol. Part A*. 130: 437-460.
- Wu, C.-A., Yang, G.-D., Meng, Q.-W. and Zheng, C.-C. (2004). The Cotton GhNHX1 Gene Encoding a Novel Putative Tonoplast Na⁺/H⁺ Antiporter Plays an Important Role in Salt Stress. *Plant and Cell Physiology*. 45: 600-607.
- Wutipraditkul, N., Waditee, R., Incharoensakdi, A.,Hibino, T., Tanaka, Y., Nakamura, T., Shikata, M., Takabe, T. and Takabe, T. (2005). Halotolerant cyanobacterium *Aphanothece halophytica* contains NapA-type Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters with novel ion specificity that are involved in salt tolerance at alkaline pH. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. 71: 4176-4184.

- Zhang, H.-X. and Blumwald, E. (2001). Transgenic salt-tolerant tomato plants accumulate salt in foliage but not in fruit. *Nat Biotech*. 19: 765-768.
- Zhang, H.-X., Hodson, J. N., Williams, J. P. and Blumwald, E. (2001). Engineering salt-tolerant Brassica plants: Characterization of yield and seed oil quality in transgenic plants with increased vacuolar sodium accumulation. *Proc. Nati. Acad. Sci. USA.* 98: 12832–12836.
- Zorb, C., Noll, A., Karl, S., Leib, K., Yan, F. and Schubert, S. (2005). Molecular characterization of Na⁺/H⁺ antiporters (ZmNHX) of maize (Zea mays L.) and their expression under salt stress. *J. Plant Physiol.* 162: 55-66.



APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Turk Island Salt Solution + modified BG11 medium contained the following components:

1. Preparation of Turk Island Salt Solution

Stock solution A:	KCl	33.3	g
	MgCl ₂ .6H ₂ 0	275.0	g
	CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ 0	73.3	g

and made up to 5 litres with distilled water.

Stock solution B:	$MgSO_4.7 H_20$	347.0 g
-------------------	-----------------	---------

and then made up to 5 litres with distilled water.

To make Turk Island Salt Solution, 500 ml of Stock solution A was added to 500 ml of Stock solution B. To this mixture 140.8 g NaCl was added and then final volume was made to 5 litres with distilled water .

2. Composition of modified BG11 medium (BG11 medium + NaNO3 Solution)

NaNO ₃	(75g / 500 ml)	50	ml
KH ₂ PO ₄	(8g / 200 ml)	5	ml
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂	0 (15g / 200 ml)	5	ml
CaCl ₂ .2H ₂ 0	(7.2g/ 200 ml)	5	ml

Na ₂ CO ₃	(4g/ 200 ml)	5	ml
Citric acid	(1.2g / 200 ml)	5	ml
EDTA.Na ₂	(0.2g / 200 ml)	5	ml
FeSO ₄ .7H ₂ 0	(1.2g / 200 ml)	5	ml
*Trace eleme	ent A_5 solution + Co	5	ml

*Trace element A_5 solution + Co contained the following component in gram per litres H_3PO_4 : 2.86 ; $ZnSO_4.7H_2O$: 0.2 ; $CuSO_4.5H_2O$: 0.08 ; $MnCl_2.4H_2O$: 1.81 ; $Na_2MnO_4.2H_2O$: 0.39 ; $Co(NO_3)_2.6H_2O$: 0.049.

Culture medium of *Aphanothece halophytica* was prepared by adding all solution of item 2 at indicated volume to 5 litres of Turk Island Salt Solution and the pH was adjusted to 7.6 by slowly adding 2.0 M NaOH. The medium was sterilized by autoclaving at 15 lb/in² for 15 minutes.

APPENDIX B

TCDS buffer

10 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.6

140 mM Choline chloride

250 mM Sucrose

5 mM DTT

Dissolve all composition with distilled water and keep at 4°C



APPENDIX C

Preparation of dextran and polyethylene glycol

Phase mixture and phase system used in plasma membrane purification

(Larsson, et al., 1987)

Phase mixture	Phase system
4.20 g	14.00 g
2.10 g	7.00 g
1.28 g	4.28 g
0.38 ml	1.25 ml
10.00 g	50.00 g
	Phase mixture 4.20 g 2.10 g 1.28 g 0.38 ml 10.00 g

BIOGRAPHY

Miss. Aporn Bualuang was born on January 16, 1979 in Nakornpathom, Thailand. She graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Biology from Facculty of Science, Silapakorn University, Nakornpathom, Thailand in 2001. She has further studied for the Master degree in Biochemistry Program, Chulalongkorn University since 2003.

